
 

Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday October 16th, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 
Welcome to the October 16th, 2023, Regular Meeting of The Lyman Board of Selectmen. 

This meeting is a public proceeding and is being recorded. 
 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
 
ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS  

 
ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 

a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.  
Please use the podium to address the board.  

b. Mail   • York County Commissioners Letter 
 
ITEM #3 MINUTES 

a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 10/2/2023 
 
ITEM #4  SIGN WARRANTS  

a. Payroll Warrant #15 in the amount of $27,699.23 
b. Accounts Payable Warrant #14 (FY2024) in the amount of $45,778.25 

 
ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

a. Review Planning Board Bylaws 
b. Review Franchise Ordinance, revision discussion from Public Hearing.  

 
ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS  

a. Road Commissioner –  
b. Fire Chief –  
c. CEO –  
d. Tax Clerk –  Monthly Reports July - September 
e. Treasurer –  Expense Report  
f. Town Manager –  
g. Other  -  

 
ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS 

a. Discussion regarding Town Clerk Position  
b. Approval for electrical work at Transfer Station 
c. Cemetery Committee, request for fundraising event 

 
OTHER 
 
EXCECUTIVE SESSION 
1.M.R.S.A §405 (A) Discussion with Town Manager regarding personnel matters  
1 M.R.S.A §405 (C) Discussion regarding the condition, or acquisition of real property  
 
 
ADJOURN 



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday October 2nd, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 1 of 5 

These are summary minutes in nature only and a full video recording of the proceeding is available to view on our 
YouTube channel at https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams or visit our website: 

https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/ 

Selectboard members present: Thomas Hatch (Vice Chair), Jessica Picard, Amber Swett, Victoria Gavel 
Selectboard members absent: Rusty “Ralph” Blackington (Chair) 

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS 
a. Select Board Public Hearing regarding the Franchise Ordinance

Thomas Hatch – Opens the public hearing at 6:00pm.
Tony Vigue – States he has been working as a consultant for the Town on the franchise agreement.
The board has decided on a basic ordinance that mirrors state statutes. The ordinance doesn’t cover
penalties and he would recommend ensuring the agreement reflects compensation and
responsibilities with regard to penalties and damages. He also recommends adding in language to
the ordinance defining “video service provider”, as some cable companies are moving towards
offering streaming services and the term “cable operator” may no longer apply. This will help add
more protection for the Town. Some companies that offer solely internet services may not need a
franchise agreement, however if they offer both internet services and a channel selection streaming
service, then they would need to have a franchise agreement with the Town that matches the terms
of any other provider already in a current franchise agreement. The franchise fee is a way for the
town to put a rental fee on the public right of way for utility facilities using that right of way for their
cables. The cable company is initially charged this fee; however, they are allowed to pass it through
to their customers. The Town has authority to use the collected franchise fee however they want.
Most municipalities choose to enhance their own communication services.
Carol Baker Roux – Asks how the board will handle the franchise agreement if the cable company is
not performing up to what they agreed to. Will there be a performance expectation? For example,
her services often come in pixelated and are buffering frequently. This often requires a reboot and
in some cases a service provider to come out and fix the issue. Although, even afterwards, the
problem will still persist. She also mentions an email from Shelly Winchenbach explaining the
franchise fee is imposed by the municipality and the cable company will not collect a fee if the Town
does not charge it. She asks the board to consider not imposing a fee as this will impact subscribers.
Tony Vigue – States if the cable company does not respond to address a service complaint, the
customer can call the attorney general’s office and there is a form that you fill out on the website.
Most issues related to performance standards can be handled in the franchise agreement, under
liquidated damages. He states cable companies will charge subscribers what the market will bear.
Sue Briggs – Asks if there is an auditing process for collecting a franchise fee.
Tony Vigue – States the cable company can hold the collected franchise fee and collect interest on it
making profit from the interest, however, the Town can impose that they pay the franchise fee
quarterly and they would not be able to collect as much interest on it.
There is no further public comment.
Thomas Hatch – Closes the Public hearing at 6:30pm

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.

Please use the podium to address the board.
Joe Wagner – States the Planning Board would be agreeable to a joint workshop to review the
bylaws with the Select Board.

DRAFT

https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams
https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/


Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday October 2nd, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 2 of 5 
 

Karen Kane – States she is on the Bunganut Park Committee, and they did a walkabout this last 
Saturday. Some things that were noted were the woodchips by the beach area are difficult to walk 
on and she would suggest the chips get removed and the beach area restored to what it was.  
Michelle Feliccitti – States Some of the buildings at the park are not locked and they did find 
needles in the booth. The playground had glass debris in some areas. Also, some trees may need to 
come down and could be a hazard.  
Sue Briggs – States she had asked the board in the last meeting about how many ballots were cast at 
the September election and hasn’t received an answer from the board.  
Lindsay Gagne – States the information is in the office and residents are welcome to call or visit the 
office during regular hours and speak with the Town Manager.  

b. Mail   •Alfred/Lyman Monthly Report    •York County Sherriff’s Report 
 
ITEM #3 MINUTES 

a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 9/18/2023 
Jessica Picard – Motions to approve the minutes. 
Amber Swett – Seconds the motion.  
Victoria Gavel – Asks to correct item 5 to change Thomas Swett to Thomas Hatch 
Motion passes: 4-0-0 

 
ITEM #4  SIGN WARRANTS  

a. Payroll Warrant #13 in the amount of $26,356.84 
Amber Swett – Motions to approve. Voctoria Gavel seconds. Motion passes: 4-0-0 

b. Accounts Payable Warrant #12 (FY2024) in the amount of $629,346.30 
Victoria Gavel – Motions to approve. Jessica Picard seconds.  
Amber Swett – Asks a question regarding a report for the state. It looked like the report may have 
been pulled twice in the same day and wanted to clarify if it was intended that way or if it was an 
error.  
Victoria Gavel – Rescinds her motion.  
Jessica Picard – Motions to approve the warrant in the amount of $620,080.34 
Amber Swett – Seconds the motion.  
Jessica Picard – Clarifies this removes check number 1062. 
Motion passes: 4-0-0 

 
ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

a. Review updated bids for concession stand at the Ball Field.  
Victoria Gavel – Motions to award the bid to BD Carpentry for $4,030 out of Capital Improvement 
to remove and replace the existing stairs on the concession stand at the Ball field 
Jessica Picard – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0 
 

ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS  
a. Kennebunk Pond Beach Committee – Updates 

Karren Kane – Provided the board with a packet of the companies they received quotes from. The 
committee is recommending the simple barrier gate for a total of $9,828.96. This gate will lock the 
entrance at a designated time with the ability to change the time seasonally. Where this came in less 
than the other option, the committee will be looking into installing cameras with the remaining 
balance of the ARPA funds. The gate company explained they wouldn’t recommend a service 

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday October 2nd, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 
 

Page 3 of 5 

agreement for the gate because it is very simple, and they’d be willing to demonstrate the features. 
The gate will still allow vehicles to get out of the park after closing.  
Amber Swett – States some of the other quotes include a heater kit required for temps below zero, 
but the simple gate system doesn’t reflect a heater kit in the quote.  
Karren Kane – States she will look into that.  

b. Road Commissioner –  
Tom Croteau – States everything is striped, and work is ready to be done on Day Road. They have 
been doing some cleanup work on Shore Road removing trees that had fallen. He is currently 
looking at the budget for next year to determine a work plan for any roads that need to be assessed. 
They repaired a large hole on Howitt Road. He will be working on doing ditching for Deering Ridge, 
removing the safety bumps on John Street, and putting in culverts on Grasshopper Lane. He’s also 
looking into pricing for next year’s road sweeping.  

c. Fire Chief –  
Matt Duross – States the hiring process is underway for a full-time employee. GMFR is selling the 
old firetruck, the 2002 Freightliner, they are accepting sealed bids until next week. Also, October 
12th GMFR is doing an Open House for the public.  

d. CEO –  
Brenda Charland – Provides the board with a quarterly report. She issued 178 permits and did 156 
inspections through the quarter.  

e. Tax Clerk –  none 
f. Treasurer –  Expense Report – reviewed in agenda packet.  
g. Town Manager – Progress Report 

Lindsay Gagne – States the work is under way at the Transfer Station for the reconstruction and 
repairs. Notices have gone out to the public. Kennebunk Pond should be starting soon. Both 
deputies were able to attend Title 21-A Elections training. This will help cross-train employees. At 
the last municipal election there were a lot of scattered write-ins for the 2-year and 3-year budget 
committee terms. Both write in candidates came in at a landslide victory. If anyone has any specific 
questions or anything they want to go over, they are always welcome to contact me.  

h. Other  -  
Michelle Feliccitti – States they had a good walkabout at Bunganut Park with the Bunganut park 
Committee. They noted one of the bridges got reinforced with some blocks placed underneath it. 
There was some trash in the area that they cleaned up. Some of the old BBQs were pulled out and 
thrown to the side in the woods with the cement still attached to the base. The platform in the pines 
for the Porta Potties are rotted out. The play area had debris in it and the plastic slide has a large rip 
in it that could pose a hazard. A set of stairs were left in the water that probably should be pulled 
out before winter. These were some concerns they noted that should be addressed before the park 
opens again next year. The committee is working on some grants for a few different projects and 
also looking into the Day of Giving. Parks and Recs would recommend cutting some trees by the 
small pond and use that as the skating rink. The pump house has electricity to string up lights, it’s 
also a larger area for skating, there’s a gate for locking it, and there’s no flowing water that would 
leave it flat for skating.  

 
ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS 

a. Discussion regarding festival event 
Thomas Hatch – States residents had brought forward concerns about a local event and a former 
elected official approaching them regarding actions of current employees. Employees deserved not 
to be defamed or slandered or victimized by any former or current municipal officials; employees 
have the right to due process and residents deserve to enjoy public events without being 

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday October 2nd, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 
 

Page 4 of 5 

approached about political activities by former officials. The workplace should be a safe place for 
employees to work and they are being respected.  

b. Application for Forestry and Conservation Committee – 1 applicant  
Jessica Picard – Motions to appoint Emily Bauer to the Forestry and Conservation Committee 
Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0 

c. Pole Permit – Nason Property Management  
Jessica Picard – States she will abstain from voting because of family relations.  
Amber Swett – Motions to approve the pole permit for private power services 
Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 3-0-1 (Thomas Hatch, Amber Swett, Voctoria 
Gavel in favor; Jessica Picard abstains).  

d. Appoint designee for permit locations. 
Lindsay Gagne – States the board can appoint a designee to approve these permits. Typically, the 
Town receives maybe two per year. This way, the designee can approve the permits and streamline 
the services.  
Jessica Picard – Motions to appoint the CEO as the designee for approving pole permits 
Amber Swett – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0  

 
 
EXCECUTIVE SESSION 
1.M.R.S.A §405 (H) Consultation with CEO on pending enforcement matter 
Jessica Picard – Motions to go into executive session per 1 MRSA §405 (H) Consultation with the CEO on pending 
enforcement matter. 
Amber Swett – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0 
 
Jessica Picard – Motions to come out of executive session.  
Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0 
 
OTHER 
 
Lindsay Gagne – States earlier tonight, the Kennebunk Pond Committee was seeking board approval for the quote they 
recommended for the gate system. Karen Kane contacted the gate company this evening and emailed their response to 
Amber’s question regarding the heating system. The gate company responded that the gate has a built-in heating 
system and there would be no extra cost.  
Jessica Picard – Motions to approve the quote for the simple gate system from CTR in the amount of $9,828.96  
Amber Swett - Seconds. Motion passes: 4-0-0 
 
Victoria Gavel – Asks about the land study if that will be coming back to the agenda. 
Lindsay Gagne – States she will reach out to the liaison.  
Michelle Feliccitti – States the Comprehensive Plan Committee will be meeting soon and the liaison for the land study 
wanted to go over the comprehensive plan before determining which parcels of land might be worth reserving for the 
Town.  
 
ADJOURN 
 
Jessica Picard – Motions to adjourn. Amber Swett seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday October 2nd, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 
 

Page 5 of 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Rusty “Ralph” Blackington  
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Thomas Hatch  
 
 

 
_____________________________________________ 
Amber Swett 
 
 
_____________________________________________ 
Jessica Picard 
 
 
_____________________________________________ 
Victoria Gavel

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I, Lindsay Gagne, Town Manager of the Town of Lyman, Maine, do hereby certify that the foregoing document consisting of 5 pages 
are the original minutes of the Select Board Meeting dated October 2nd, 2023 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Lindsay Gagne
 

DRAFT

























LYMAN PLANNING BOARD 

MISSION STATEMENT 2023 

The Lyman Planning Board is entrusted with the task of promoting the health, 

safety and general welfare of the residents of the Town of Lyman.  The Board 

seeks to preserve the rural character of the Town, respect the Town’s historical 

legacy, acknowledge the recreational opportunities afforded in Town, and protect 

the values of property within the Town. To do so, the Board encourages the most 

appropriate use of land throughout the Town and promotes rational and 

environmentally sound economic development. 

The Board aims to balance the conservation of the beauty of our shared natural 

resources with residential development and commercial enterprise.  The Board 

applies the directives of the Comprehensive Plan and the Town Zoning and Shore 

Land Zoning Ordinances as guidance for its decision-making on behalf of the 

Town of Lyman, 

The Board operates in the service of property owners of the Town of Lyman, 

demonstrating respect for all those who appear before it and adhering to the 

principles of impartiality, integrity and professionalism. 

Adopted by vote of the Planning Board at a regular meeting on: 

August 2, 2023 

Rod Tetu Chair DRAFT



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – August 2023 

1 | P a g e

Article 1 - General Provisions 

1.1 The Planning Board (hereafter referred to as The Board) will conduct its business in 
accordance with Maine Revised Statutes Title 30A and 38; Town of Lyman Zoning 
Ordinance and Shoreland Zoning Ordinance (hereafter referred to as the LZOs); Town of 
Lyman Street Acceptance, Design and Construction Standards Ordinance; Planning Board 
Land Development and Subdivision Standards; the Town of Lyman Municipal Charter; and 
Roberts Rules of Order. 

1.2 The Board members are expected to review State and Local regulations to become 
knowledgeable with the regulations, and with Board Policies and Procedures. 

1.3 Conflict of Interest.   The Board members are required to consider applications and make 
decisions impartially. Any conflict of interest must be avoided. It is expected that a Board 
member will recuse him/herself from consideration of an applicant’s project if the Board 
member is aware of a conflict of interest. 

Types of conflict of interest may include: 
a. Financial interest in a project.
b. Blood/Marital relationship to the applicant within the 6th degree (see Attachment 4,

Table of Consanguinity from the Maine Municipal Association Planning Board Manual).
c. Board member bias as described in Section 1.4.

1.4  Bias.  Bias may be indicated by a Board member’s behavior or statements such that the 
Board member is perceived to be unable to make an impartial decision. Also, bias may be 
indicated by a personal or business relationship between the Board member and the 
applicant such that the Board member may be perceived as being unable to impartially 
judge the merits of the applicant’s project. 

The Board member subject to the bias allegations may choose to recuse him/herself from 
the discussion of the applicant’s project, and an alternate member may be designated by 
the Chair to be a full member for the consideration of the project. 

Burden of Proof/Board Procedure. The burden of proving bias is on the applicant. Any 
allegations of bias exhibited by a Board member must be accompanied by specific written 
examples of the alleged bias. The Board member shall be given adequate time, but no less 
than 24 hours, to review the bias allegations and an opportunity to respond to the 
allegations. The Board may vote to suspend action on the applicant’s project until the 
alleged bias is adjudicated.  

The Board should review allegations of bias in Executive Session as described in Section 
10. After reviewing the bias allegations and the Board member’s response, the Board
(without the Board member accused of bias) shall vote on the issue in open session.



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – August 2023 

2 | P a g e

1.5 Board member discussions/email or other correspondence. To avoid violations of the 
Freedom of Access Act (FOAA) and the constitutional right to due process, Board members 
should NOT have discussions with other Board members regarding an application or other 
substantive Board business outside an advertised Board meeting. Delivery of substantive 
information between meetings by email may be permissible as long as it is a one-way 
communication and no discussion of the information occurs outside the meeting by email 
or otherwise. 

Article 2 - Membership 

2.1 Appointments to The Board are to be made by the Municipal Officers Town Manager with 
the concurrence of the Select Board, after a recommendation from The Board in 
accordance with LZO 8.2.3 and the Town of Lyman Municipal Charter.  

2.2 Appointees must be registered voters, and residents of Lyman.  18 years of age or over 
and a legal resident of the State of Maine. 

2.3 The Board will consist of five full members and two alternate members. 

2.4 The term of each member is three years, unless otherwise specified by the Select Board. 
of Selectmen. 

2.5 When there is a permanent vacancy on The Board, the Chair shall request a motion to 
move the senior alternate to fill the vacancy and The Board shall vote on the same. 

2.6 Any member of The Board may be removed for just cause in accordance with Title 30A 
M.R.S.A., Section 2601, and the Town of Lyman Municipal Charter and LZO 8.2.5. The term
just cause shall include failure to attend three consecutive Board meetings without
approval of the Chair.

Article 3 - Officers and their Duties 

3.1 The officers of The Board shall consist of the Chair, Vice-Chair, and Secretary. The Chair 
and Vice-Chair are to be full members. 

3.2 The Chair presides at all meetings and hearings of The Board. The Chair has the authority 
to appoint all committees and to call all work sessions and to preside over executive 
sessions. 

3.3 The Vice-Chair acts for the Chair in the Chair’s absence. 



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – August 2023 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

3.4 The Secretary is responsible for all minutes and records of The Board, notices of meetings 
and hearings, and correspondence of The Board.  

 
3.5 The election of officers shall take place in July of each year or as soon as possible 

thereafter. 
 
3.6 Nominations of officers shall be made from full voting members of The Board. The 

candidates receiving a majority vote are elected. The term of office is one year or until the 
successor takes office. 

 
3.7 Vacancies of officers will be filled using normal election procedures. 
 
Article 4 - Alternate Members 
  
4.1 Alternate Board members are expected to attend all meetings and workshops and may 

participate in all proceedings but may not vote on a project that is before the Board 
unless the Chair has designated an alternate to fill a full member’s seat for that project. 
Alternate members may sign plans and use permits on a project when they have been 
designated by the Chair to fill the seat of a full member. 

 
Article 5 - Planning Board Clerk 
 
5.1 The Clerk provides administrative support to The Board, and, under the supervision of the 

Secretary, is responsible for all minutes and records of The Board, notices of meetings and 
hearings, and correspondence of The Board. The Clerk must keep records of all 
resolutions, votes, transactions, correspondence, findings and conclusions of The Board. 
All records are public information and may be inspected during normal business hours of 
the Clerk, with proper notice. 

 
5.2  The Clerk shall maintain approved copies of the Board By-Laws, Mission Statement, and 

reports to the Board of Selectmen.  
 
Article 6 - Powers and Duties of the Board 
 
6.1 The Board shall perform such duties and exercise such powers as are provided in 

Municipal Ordinances and Planning Board Regulations and the laws of the State of Maine. 
 
6.2 The Board may obtain goods and services it finds necessary to properly perform its 

function within the limits of appropriations made for that purpose. 
 
 
 
 



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – August 2023 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

Article 7 - Meetings 
 
7.1 Regular meetings are to be held on the 1st and 3rd Wednesday of each month at a time 

specified by The Board. Meetings are held at the Town Office or another suitable meeting 
place. Special meetings may be called by the Chair, or upon request of a majority of The 
Board, or as requested by the Board of Selectmen, provided that notice thereof is given to 
each Board member at least 24 hours in advance and that no business may be conducted 
other than as specified in said notice. 

 
 Refer to Attachment 3 for notification requirements. 
 
 All meetings of The Board shall be held in accordance with the Maine Freedom of Access 

Act, Maine Revised Statute Title 1, Chapter 13, Public Records and Proceedings and the 
requirements of the LZOs 

Notice of all Board meetings shall be given as required by law, and all such meetings shall 

be open to the public except as otherwise provided by law. Notice of meetings shall be 

posted at the Lyman Town Hall, and on the Town’s all official Town digital media platforms, 

at least one working day before the scheduled meeting. 

Refer to Attachment 1 for sample Planning Board Meeting Opening Remarks. 

7.2 All meetings are open to the public with exception of an Executive Session. Normally, with 
the exception of a public hearing, the public is barred from addressing The Board or 
applicant during a meeting, unless The Board by a majority vote permits the public to 
speak. 

 
7.3 A Board meeting cannot take place without a quorum present. A quorum will consist of 

three members without any of the three having a conflict of interest with any of the 
projects before the Board. The Board may conduct regular business but will not be able to 
hear anything having to do with the project with the conflict, unless another member 
arrives that has no conflict of interest. 

 
7.4 In the event a quorum is not present for a Board meeting, workshop or site walk, the 

Board shall reschedule with proper notice by the Clerk. 
 
7.5 All comments addressed to The Board must be made through the Chair. 
 
7.6 A majority vote of The Board is required to pass any motion. The Chair is a full voting 

member. 
 
7.7 When a motion results in a tie vote the Motion Fails. 
 



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – August 2023 
 

5 | P a g e  
 

7.8 All project decisions made by The Board are based on the project meeting all Local, State 
and Federal Laws, Rules and Regulations. 

 
Article 8 - Agendas 
 
8.1 All agendas are set by The Board or the Chair. 
 
8.2 Normal meeting agendas are to be posted in accordance with State statute. Special 

meetings and workshops will be noticed and posted as per section 7.1 of this by-law. 
 
8.3 New applications, when deemed complete and in accordance with the regulations by the 

Code Enforcement Officer and The Board, may be placed on the next available agenda as 
determined by The Board, subject to Board meeting and public hearing requirements. 

 
Article 9 – Public Hearings 
 
9.1 Public hearings of The Board shall be called as required by the LZOs or on such other 

occasions, as a majority of The Board may deem appropriate. Notice of all such hearings 
shall be given as required by law and the LZOs, and shall include the date, time and place 
of the hearing and a general description of the subject matter. Requirements include: 

 
1. The Board must hold a public hearing within 45 days of Board determination that the 

application is complete. 

2. The Board must notify CEO, Select Board and ZBA at least 20 days in advance of the 

public hearing. 

3. The Board must notify abutting property owners (see LZOs) by certified mail at least 10 

days in advance. 

4. The Board must publish notice in a “newspaper of general circulation” at least 10 days 
in advance; e.g., Reporter and Portland Press Herald 

5. The Board must publish notice in Town Hall and on all official Town digital media 

platforms at least 10 days in advance. 

Refer to LZOs for additional requirements for Board Contract Zones Public Hearings and LZO 

Amendment Public Hearings. 

Refer to Attachment 3 for notification requirements. 

The Chair shall convene all hearings by describing the purpose of the hearing and the 

general procedures to be followed. The Board may receive any oral or documentary 

material but shall exclude irrelevant, immaterial or unduly repetitious material. Every party 

shall have the right to present its material in the order determined by the Chair and without 

interruption, provided, however, that the Chair may impose such reasonable time limits as 

may be necessary to ensure that all parties have an adequate opportunity to be heard.  



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – August 2023 
 

6 | P a g e  
 

Refer to Attachment 2 for sample Planning Board Public Hearing Opening Remarks. 

Article 10 - Executive Sessions 
 
10.1 Upon a majority vote of the Board members present, the Board may call an executive 

session to discuss a personnel issue with a Board member or to discuss pending or 
potential litigation with the Town Attorney. Within the executive session the Chair is 
responsible to ensure that only the matter at hand is discussed and that no official action 
be taken. No votes shall be taken in executive session. 

 
Article 11 - Amendments 
 
11.1 The By-Laws may be amended by a majority vote of The Board at a regularly scheduled 

meeting. 
 
Article 12 - Severability  
 
12.1 The invalidity of any section or provision of these By-Laws does not invalidate any other 

section or provision of these By-Laws. 
   
Attachments: 

1. Table of Consanguinity 
1. Sample of Planning Board Meeting Opening Remarks 
2. Sample of Planning Board Public Hearing Opening Remarks 
3. Notification Requirements for Board Meetings, Site Walks, Public Hearings, and 

minimum time for Site Walks and Public Hearings 
4. Table of Consanguinity 
5. Remote Participation Policy 

 
ADOPTED BY VOTE OF THE PLANNING BOARD AT A REGULAR MEETING ON: 
 
August 16, 2023 
 
 
 
Rod Tetu Chair 
 
  



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – August 2023 
 

7 | P a g e  
 

Attachment 1 
 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING OPENING REMARKS 
 

 Welcome to the (date) meeting of the Lyman Planning Board.  This 
meeting will come to order. This is a public proceeding and unless the Board 
specifically votes to go into executive session, you have the right to hear 
everything that is being said and to look at all the exhibits that are offered. If 
the Board votes to go into executive session, the reason for the same shall be 
stated.  Please notify the Chairman if you are having difficulty seeing or hearing. 
This meeting is being recorded for live streamed and recorded to YouTube. 
 
 In each instance, the burden is upon the applicant to demonstrate 
compliance with the provisions of the applicable ordinance or ordinances. 
 
  After the Board votes on the merits of each project it will prepare a 
written opinion which will be forwarded within seven (7) days. 
 
 The Board works from a prepared agenda and will be considering this 
meeting’s items in the following order: 
 
ROLL CALL 

• Determine if PB quorum is present. Designate alternate as voting 

member if necessary. 

 
REGULAR MEETING NEW BUSINESS 

• List applicants 

• List other meeting topics 

 
MINUTES 

• Review and approve minutes 

 
OLD BUSINESS/MAIL/OPEN ISSUES 

• List applicants/status 

• Discuss mail 

• Discuss any other open issues 
   



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – August 2023 
 

8 | P a g e  
 

Attachment 2 
PLANNING BOARD 

PUBLIC HEARING OPENING REMARKS 
 

   Welcome to the _(Date)___  Planning Board Public Hearing 
                  

This hearing will come to order. 
 

 
The Lyman Planning Board is holding this Public Hearing to review the 

applications of:   
 
_______________________________________ 
 

This is a public proceeding and unless the Board specifically votes to go into executive 
session, you have the right to hear everything that is being said and to look at all the 
exhibits that are offered. Please notify the Chairman if you are having difficulty seeing 
or hearing the presentation.   
 
This meeting is being recorded and televised on YouTube.  

 
All persons speaking will be asked to first state their name and address or affiliation.  All 
questions and comments will be directed to and through the Chairman.  It is required 
that you sign the sign in sheet to document your attendance at this hearing.  
 
Thank you in advance for your cooperation. 
  



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – August 2023 
 

9 | P a g e  
 

Attachment 3 
 
Planning Board Notification and Minimum Time Requirements  

 
1. PB Meetings and Site Walks – Publish notice one week in advance on Town Web/BB/Sign. 

 

2. PB Public Hearings on SPR and Preliminary Subdivision Application – Notify CEO, SB, and 
ZBA 20 days in advance; Using list provided by applicant, notify abutters 20 days in advance 
by certified mail; Publish notice two weeks in advance on Town Web/BB/Sign/Library; 
Publish notice once in newspaper 14 days in advance. 

 
3. PB Public Hearings on Contract Zoning SPR - Notify CEO, SB, and ZBA 20 days in advance; 

Using list provided by applicant, notify abutters 20 days in advance by certified mail; Publish 
notice two weeks in advance on Town Web/BB/Sign/Library; Publish notice twice in 
newspaper, first notice at least 14 days in advance, second notice at least 7 days in 
advance. 

 
4. PB Public Hearing on LZO Amendments - Notify CEO, SB, and ZBA 20 days in advance; Using 

list provided by applicant, notify abutters 20 days in advance by certified mail; Publish 
notice two weeks in advance on Town Web/BB/Sign/Library; Publish notice twice in 
newspaper, first notice at least 14 days in advance, second notice at least 7 days in 
advance. NOTE - refer to Lyman Charter Section 3.15.4 for additional requirements to place 
LZO Amendments on Town ballot. 

 
5. Minimum Time between PB vote that SPR application is complete or acceptance of 

Subdivision Preliminary Plan and Site Walk/Public Hearing: 
a. Site Walk – 10 days to allow publishing notice on Town Web/BB/sign 
b. Public Hearing – four weeks to allow required notification of CEO, SB and ZBA 

 

Abbreviations/notes: 
 

BB – Bulletin Board in Town Hall PB – Planning Board 

CEO – Code Enforcement Officer SB – Select Board 

Days – calendar days Sign – Illuminated sign in front of Town Hall  

Library – Community Library; 10 John Street SPR – Site Plan Review per LZO Article 8 

LZO – Town of Lyman Zoning Ordinance Web – Town of Lyman Website; lyman-
me.gov 

Newspaper – a newspaper of general 
circulation    

ZBA – Zoning Board of Appeals; refer to LZO 
Article 9 



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – August 2023 
 

10 | P a g e  
 

Attachment 4  
 
( Note: Refer to pdf file for Table of Consanguinity)  



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – August 2023 
 

11 | P a g e  
 

Attachment 5  
Town of Lyman Planning Board 

Remote Participation Policy 
 
Pursuant to 1 M.R.S. § 403-B, and after public notice and hearing, the Town of Lyman Planning Board 
(PB)    adopts the following policy to govern the participation, via remote methods, of PB members and 
the public in the public proceedings or meetings of the PB. 

 
PB Members are expected to be physically present for meetings except when not practicable, such as 
in the case of an emergency or urgent issue that requires the PB to meet via remote methods, or an 
illness or temporary absence of a member that causes significant difficulty traveling to the meeting 
location. All PB meetings will be accessible by Zoom or other a remote platform when possible. A 
member who is unable to attend a meeting in person will notify the PB chair or presiding officer as 
far in advance as possible.  

 
Remote methods of participation may include telephonic or video technology allowing simultaneous 
reception of information and may include other means necessary to accommodate disabled persons. 
Remote participation will not be by text-only means such as e-mail, text messages, or chat functions.  

 
Applicants appearing before the PB may be allowed to participate via remote methods at the 
discretion of the PB Chair or designee.  
 
The public will be provided a meaningful opportunity to attend via remote methods when any PB 
member o r  a p p l i c a n t  participates via remote methods. If public input is allowed or required at    
the meeting, an effective means of communication between the PB members and the public will also 
be provided.  The PB chairperson may instruct the moderator to force mute members of the public 
who are disruptive to the proceedings. The public will also be provided an opportunity to attend the 
meeting in person unless there is an emergency or urgent issue that requires the entire PB to meet 
using remote methods. 

 
Notice of all meetings will be provided in accordance with 1 M.R.S. § 406 and any applicable charter, 
ordinance, policy, or bylaw. When the public may attend via remote methods,     notice will include the 
means by which the public may access the meeting remotely and will provide a method for disabled 
persons to request necessary accommodation to access the meeting. Notice will also identify a 
location where the public may attend the meeting in person. The PB will not restrict public 
attendance to remote methods except in the case of an emergency or urgent issue that requires the 
PB to meet using remote methods of attendance. 

 
The PB will make all documents and materials to be considered by the PB available, electronically or 
otherwise, to the public who attend remotely to the same extent customarily available to the public 
who attend in person, provided no additional costs are incurred by the PB. 

 



DRAFT



Cable Television Ordinance 

Town of Lyman 

The Town of Lyman, acting through its municipal officers pursuant to 30-A M.R.S.A. 

§3008(2), hereby enacts the following Cable Television Ordinance:

Section 1 – PURPOSE 

The purpose for the ordinance is to provide for Town regulation and use of the cable television 

system including its construction, operation and maintenance in, along, upon, across, over and 

under the streets, alleys, public ways and public places now laid out or dedicated, and all 

extensions thereof and additions thereof in the Town of Lyman, including poles, wires, cables, 

underground conduits, manholes, conductors and fixtures necessary for the maintenance and 

operation in the Town of Lyman, of the cable television systems and to provide conditions 

accompanying the grant of franchise; and providing for the Town regulation of cable television 

operation.  

Section 2 – DEFINITIONS 

“Cable Television System” shall have the same meaning as defined in 30-A M.R.S.A. §3008 as 

the same may be amended.  

“Cable Television Company” shall mean any person, firm, or corporation owning, controlling, 

operating, managing, or leasing a cable television system within the Town of Lyman, 

sometimes hereinafter referred to as “the company.” 

“Town” shall mean the Town of Lyman, organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

Maine and the area within its territorial limits. 

"Video service provider" means any person that directly or through one or more affiliates sells 

in the State access to video, audio or computer-generated or computer-augmented 

entertainment and directly or through one or more affiliates owns or operates facilities located 

in whole or in part in a municipality’s public rights-of-way that are used to provide those 

services, irrespective of the technology used to deliver such services. "Video service provider" 

includes, but is not limited to, a cable system operator and a common carrier that operates a 

cable television system. "Video service provider" does not include: 

(1) A commercial mobile service provider, as defined in 47 United States Code,

Section 332(d); or

(2) A provider of an Internet access service, as defined in 47 United States Code,

Section 231(e)(4), with respect to the provision of the Internet service by the

provider.

DRAFT



Section 3 – FRANCHISE REQUIRED 

No person, firm or corporation shall install, maintain or operate within the Town or any of its 

public ways or other public areas any equipment or facilities for the operation of a cable 

television system unless a franchise authorizing the use of said public ways or areas has first 

been obtained pursuant to the provision of this Ordinance and unless said franchise is in full 

force and effect.  

Section 4 – FRANCHISE CONTRACT 

The municipal officers of the Town may contract on such terms, conditions and fees as they 

deem in the best interests of the Town and its residents with one or more Cable Television 

Companies for the operation of a cable television system within the Town, including the 

granting of a non-exclusive franchise for the operation thereof for a period not to exceed 

fifteen (15) years.  

Applicants for a franchise or franchise renewal shall pay a non-refundable filing fee of $500 to 

the Town to defray the cost of public notice and advertising expenses relating to such 

application. The applicants may also be assessed the cost of attorney fees incurred by the Town 

of Lyman in connection with the cable franchise application and agreement. The application 

shall be filed with the Town Clerk and shall contain such information as the Town may require 

including, but not limited to, a general description of the applicant’s proposed operation, a 

schedule of proposed charges, a statement detailing its previous two fiscal years, an estimated 

ten year financial projection of its proposed system, its annual Town franchise fee as required 

by the Town, and the basis for same, and a statement detailing the prior operational experience 

of the applicant in both the cable television and microwave service including that of its 

officers, management and staff to be associated with the proposed operations.  

Any franchise contract may be revoked by the municipal officers for good and sufficient cause 

as provided in the franchise contract, after due notice to the company and a public hearing 

thereon, with the right to appeal to the Superior Court under Rule 80B of the Maine Rules of 

Civil Procedure.  

Section 5 – PUBLIC HEARING 

Before issuance of a request for proposals, or during the franchise contract renewal process, the 

Town shall hold a public hearing with at least seven (7) days advance notice for the purpose of 

determining any special local needs or interest regarding cable television.  

Applications for a franchise to operate a CATV system in the Town and related 

documents are public records to be filed with and maintained by the Town pursuant to the State 

Freedom of Access Law, 1 M.R.S.A. § 401 et seq., as amended from time to time.  

DRAFT



Before authorizing the issuance of any such franchise contract, including an assignment or a 

renewal of a franchise contract, the municipal officers shall review the applicant’s character, 

financial and technical qualifications and the adequacy and feasibility of its qualifications to 

operate a cable television system within the Town, and shall conduct a public hearing thereon 

with at least seven (7) days advertised notice prior to said public hearing.  

Section 6 – PERFORMANCE BOND AND INSURANCE COVERAGE 

The Cable Television Company shall provide sufficient insurance to indemnify and hold 

harmless the Town of Lyman, its agents and its employees from and against all claims, 

damages, losses, and expenses, including attorney’s fees, arising out of or resulting from the 

performance of the work, maintenance of the system and damages caused by components or 

portions thereof, provided that any such claim, damage, loss, or expense is attributable to 

bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property, 

including the loss of use resulting therefrom, and is caused in whole or in part by any negligent 

or willful act or omission of the Cable Television Company and anyone directly or indirectly 

employed by it or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable. Upon the execution of any 

such franchise contract, the cable television company shall file a surety company performance 

bond in an amount to be determined by the Board of Selectmen conditioned upon the faithful 

performance of said contract and full compliance with any laws, ordinances, or regulations 

governing said franchise. Said performance bond shall remain in effect until the Cable 

Television Company has completed any construction or reconstruction of the system as set 

forth in the franchise contract. 

The Cable Television Company shall also, upon execution of any such franchise contract, 

provide evidence of insurance coverage as the Municipal Officers may require.  

Section 7 – COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS 

Cable Television Companies shall at all times comply with all applicable federal, State and 

local laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes and orders.  All applicable 

requirements of public and consumer protection laws affecting the provision of cable television 

services, including without limitation 30-A M.R.S.A. §3008 and§3010, as the same may be 

amended, are incorporated by reference. 

Section 8 -- SEVERABILITY 

Should any section or provision of this Ordinance be declared by the courts to be invalid, such 

decision shall not invalidate any other section or provision of this Ordinance. 

This ordinance is effective upon its adoption by the Selectboard, Town of Lyman. 

DRAFT



Approved this _________ day of __________________, 2023. 

Town of Lyman by its Selectboard 

________________________Ralph Blackington 

________________________Thomas Hatch 

________________________Jessica Picard 

________________________Amber Swett 

________________________Victoria Gavel 

DRAFT































E
x

p
e

n
s
e

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

 R
e

p
o

rt

A
LL

 M
o
n
th

s

D
E
P
A
R
T
M

E
N

T
(S

):
 1

0
7

8
:4

7
 A

M

Ly
m

a
n

P
a
g
e
 1

1
0
/0

6
/2

0
2
3

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

Y
T
D

O
U

T
S
T
A
N

D
U

N
E
X
P
E
N

D
E
D

A
C
C
O

U
N

T
O

R
IG

IN
A
L

A
D

JU
S
T
M

E
N

T
N

E
T

N
E
T

E
N

C
U

M
B
A
LA

N
C
E

1
0
7
 -

 C
IT

IZ
E
N

S
 P

T
0
.0

0
6
0
,2

1
7
.0

0
6
0
,2

1
7
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
0
,2

1
7
.0

0

  
  

1
3

 -
 E

L
E

C
T

IO
N

S
0

.0
0

6
0

,2
1

7
.0

0
6

0
,2

1
7

.0
0

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

6
0

,2
1

7
.0

0

  
  

  
  
1
0
 -

 S
A
LA

R
IE

S
0
.0

0
2
6
,8

3
2
.0

0
2
6
,8

3
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
6
,8

3
2
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
1
8
1
 -

 T
O

W
N

 C
LE

R
K

0
.0

0
2
6
,8

3
2
.0

0
2
6
,8

3
2
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
6
,8

3
2
.0

0

  
  

  
  
2
0
 -

 B
E
N

E
F
IT

S
0
.0

0
3
3
,3

8
5
.0

0
3
3
,3

8
5
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
3
3
,3

8
5
.0

0

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
0
1
 -

 F
IC

A
0
.0

0
2
,0

5
2
.6

5
2
,0

5
2
.6

5
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,0

5
2
.6

5

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
1
0
 -

 H
E
A
LT

H
0
.0

0
2
8
,0

9
7
.3

9
2
8
,0

9
7
.3

9
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
8
,0

9
7
.3

9

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
1
1
 -

 D
E
N

T
A
L

0
.0

0
5
5
1
.7

6
5
5
1
.7

6
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
5
5
1
.7

6

  
  

  
  
  
  
2
3
1
 -

 M
P
E
R
S
 E

R
0
.0

0
2
,6

8
3
.2

0
2
,6

8
3
.2

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
2
,6

8
3
.2

0

F
in

a
l 
T
o
ta

ls
0
.0

0
6
0
,2

1
7
.0

0
6
0
,2

1
7
.0

0
0
.0

0
0
.0

0
6
0
,2

1
7
.0

0



Electrical Services Quote 

Ground wire at Transfer Station 

$5,000 

FY2023 

Contingency Fund 

$2,500 

FY2023 Reserve Accounts 

Capital Improvement Reserve 

$120,932 

Transfer Station Revenue Reserve 

$59,786.48 



Town of Lyman 
11 South Waterboro Rd. 

Lyman, ME  04002 
Tel. 207-499-7562  Fax 207-499-7563 

 
 

October 12, 2023 
 
To the Town of Lyman Selectboard: 
 
We are writing to you because one of  our ancient cemeteries was badly damaged on Sept 2, 
2023.  In the middle of  the night, a pick-up truck drove directly into the cemetery.  It’s 
unknown if  there is any insurance from the owner of  the truck to cover expenses of  repair 
of  this cemetery.  The Lyman Cemetery Committee would like to set up is seeking donations 
from anyone able to help with the repair of  the cemetery, and most importantly 2 of  the 

headstones.  The Veteran in this cemetery is : John Burbank served with John 

Paul Jones in the Rev. war.  He died 3 Oct 1843 aged 91yrs 6 mos  His wife Anna 
died 3 Oct 1843 aged 84 yrs 6 mos 
 
The Maine Veterans will replace his broken stone, but they are not able to cover the cost of  

the wives of  both John Burbank, nor Taylor.. We have gotten a quote of  $2600 per stone 

(we need two) which does include the engraving. A dependent of  one of  the veterans is 

offering $500 to help with the cost. 

The Lyman Cemetery Committee requests to set up an expendable fund raiser for this 

particular purpose named: 

Lyman Cemetery Committee Headstone Replacement Fund 

To create an Expendable Fund for the purpose of  replacing and repairing 

headstones at a Cemetery located on Route 111 that sustained damage as the result 

of  a crash on September 2, 2023.  Any funds collected over and above the purchasing 

and installation costs will used for any additional landscaping and some sort of  

fencing to alert and protect both drivers and the headstones. 

To be overseen by the Lyman Cemetery Committee.   Thank you! 

Accepted and Approved on October 16, 2023. 

___________________________   ______________________ 

Rusty “Ralph” Blackington – Chair   Tom Hatch – Vice Chair 

 

___________________________   ______________________ 

Jessica Picard      Victoria Gavel 

 

___________________________ 

Amber Swett 




